Inter-American Court of Human Rights
Case of the Ituango Massacres v. Colombia

Judgment of July 1, 2006
(Preliminary Objections, Merits, Reparations and Costs)

In the case of the Ituango Massacres,

the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (hereinafter “the Court” or “the Inter-
American Court”), composed of the following judges™:

Sergio Garcia Ramirez, President
Alirio Abreu Burelli, Vice President
Antdnio A. Cancado Trindade, Judge
Cecilia Medina Quiroga, Judge

Manuel E. Ventura Robles, Judge, and
Diego Garcia-Sayan, Judge;

also present,

Pablo Saavedra Alessandri, Secretary, and
Emilia Segares Rodriguez, Deputy Secretary

pursuant to Articles 62(3) and 63(1) of the American Convention on Human Rights
(hereinafter “the Convention” or “the American Convention”) and Articles 29, 31,
37(6), 53(2), 55, 56 and 58 of the Rules of Procedure of the Court (hereinafter “the
Rules of Procedure™), delivers this judgment.
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INTRODUCTION OF THE CASE

1. On July 30, 2004, in accordance with the provisions of Articles 50 and 61 of
the American Convention, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights
(hereinafter “the Commission” or “the Inter-American Commission”) lodged before
the Court an application against the State of Colombia (hereinafter “the State” or
“Colombia™), which originated from petitions No. 12,050 (La Granja) and 12,266 (El
Aro), with regard to the Municipality of Ituango, received by the Secretariat of the
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Judge Oliver Jackman and Judge ad hoc Jaime Enrique Granados Pefa (infra paras. 53 and 54)
informed the Court that, for reasons beyond their control, they would be unable to take part in the
deliberation of this judgment.



Commission on July 14, 1998, and March 3, 2000, respectively. On March 11, 2004,
the Commission decided to joinder the cases (infra para. 10).

2. In its application, the Commission referred to events that occurred in June
1996 and as of October 1997, in the municipal districts (corregimientos) of La Granja
and El Aro, respectively, both of them located in the Municipality of ltuango,
Department of Antioquia, Colombia. The Commission alleged that “the State’s
responsibility [...] arose from the [alleged] acts of omission, acquiescence and
collaboration by members of law enforcement bodies based in the Municipality of
Ituango with paramilitary groups belonging to the United Self-Defense Forces of
Colombia (AUC), which [allegedly] perpetrated successive armed raids in this
Municipality, assassinating defenseless civilians, robbing others of their property and
causing terror and displacement.” The Commission also stated that “eight years after
the raid in the municipal district of La Granja and more than six years after the
armed incursion in the municipal district of El Aro, the Colombian State ha[d] still not
complied significantly with its obligation to clarify the facts, prosecute all those
responsible effectively, and provide adequate reparation to the [alleged] victims and
their next of kin.”

3. The Commission presented the application for the Court to decide whether the
State is responsible for the alleged violation of the following rights established in the
following articles of the American Convention, in relation to Article 1(1) thereof:

(a) 4 (Right to Life), to the detriment of the following nineteen (19)
persons: William Villa Garcia, Graciela Arboleda, Héctor Hernan Correa Garcia,
Jairo Sepulveda, Arnulfo Sanchez, José Dario Martinez, Olcris Fail Diaz,
Wilmar de JesUs Restrepo Torres, Omar de JesUs Ortiz Carmona, Fabio
Antonio Zuleta Zabala, Otoniel de JesUs Tejada Jaramillo, Omar Ivan
Gutiérrez Nohav4, Guillermo Andrés Mendoza Posso, Nelson de JesuUs Palacio
Cérdenas, Luis Modesto Munera, Dora Luz Areiza, Alberto Correa, Marco
Aurelio Areiza Osorio and Rosa Areiza Barrera;

(b) 19 (Rights of the Child), to the detriment of the minor, Wilmar de
Jesus Restrepo Torres;

(©) 7 (Right to Personal Liberty), to the detriment of the following three
(3) persons: Jairo Sepulveda, Marco Aurelio Areiza Osorio and Rosa Areiza
Barrera;

(d) 5 (Right to Humane Treatment), to the detriment of the following two
(2) persons: Marco Aurelio Areiza and Rosa Areiza Barrera;

(e) 21 (Right to Property), to the detriment of the following six (6)
persons: Luis Humberto Mendoza, Libardo Mendoza, Francisco Osvaldo Pino
Posada, Omar Alfredo Torres Jaramillo, Ricardo Alfredo Builes Echeverry and
Bernardo Maria Jiménez Lopera; and

® 8 (Right to a Fair Trial) and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection), to the
detriment “of all the [alleged] victims and their next of kin.”

4. Lastly, the Commission requested the Court to order the State to adopt a
series of measures of pecuniary and non-pecuniary reparation, and also to pay the



costs and expenses arising from processing the case in the domestic jurisdiction and
before the inter-American system for the protection of human rights.
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JURISDICTION

5. The Court has jurisdiction to hear this case in the terms of Articles 62 and
63(1) of the American Convention, because Colombia has been a State Party to the
Convention since July 31, 1973, and accepted the contentious jurisdiction of the
Court on June 21, 1985.
11
PROCEEDING BEFORE THE COMMISSION

a. Processing of case 12,050 (La Granja)

6. On July 14, 1998, the Inter-American Commission received a petition
submitted by the Grupo Interdisciplinario por los Derechos Humanos (hereinafter
“GIDH”) and the Comision Colombiana de Juristas (hereinafter “CCJ” and, when
referring to both organizations, “the representatives of the alleged victims and their
next of kin” or “the representatives”) against the State for facts that allegedly took
taken place in La Granja. On September 9, 1998, the Commission, in accordance
with its Rules of Procedure, opened case file No. 12,050 and requested the State to
provide the pertinent information.

7. On October 2, 2000, the Commission adopted report No. 57/00, declaring the
case admissible. On October 23, 2000, the Commission made itself available to the
parties in order to reach a friendly settlement.

b. Processing of case 12,226 (El Aro)

8. On March 3, 2000, the Inter-American Commission received a petition
submitted by the representatives against the State for the facts that allegedly
occurred in El Aro. On April 11, 2000, the Commission, in accordance with its Rules
of Procedure, opened case file No. 12,226 and requested the State to provide the
pertinent information.

9. On October 10, 2001, the Commission adopted report No. 75/01, declaring
the case admissible. On November 14, 2001, the Commission made itself available to
the parties in order to reach a friendly settlement.

c. Joinder of cases 12,050 (La Granja) and 12,226 (El Aro)

10. Since the petitioners in cases 12,050 and 12,266 were identical, and also the
context of the facts denounced in both cases, the sequential relationship of the
reported violations, and their impact in the two districts of the Municipality of
Ituango in the Department of Antioquia, the Commission proceeded to joinder the
cases in order to take a decision on merits.

11. On March 11, 2004, given that a friendly settlement could not be reached in
these cases, the Commission, pursuant to Article 50 of the American Convention,
adopted joint Report No. 23/04, in which it stated that the Colombian State was
responsible for violating the rights embodied in the following articles of the
Convention:



12.

13.

(@) 1(1) (Obligation to Respect Rights), 4 (Right to Life), 8(1) (Right to a
Fair Trial) and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection) of the American Convention, to
the detriment of William Villa Garcia, Graciela Arboleda (widow of Garcia) and
Héctor Hernan Correa Garcia, who lost their life in the facts that occurred in
the municipal district of La Granja;

(b) 1(1) (Obligation to Respect Rights), 4 (Right to Life), 7 (Right to
Personal Liberty), 8(1) (Right to a Fair Trial) and 25 (Right to Judicial
Protection), to the detriment of Jairo Sepulveda;

(©) 1(1) (Obligation to Respect Rights), 4 (Right to Life), 8(1) (Right to a
Fair Trial) and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection) of the Convention, to the
detriment of Arnulfo Sanchez, José Dario Martinez, Olcris Fail Diaz, Omar de
Jesus Ortiz Carmona, Fabio Antonio Zuleta Zabala, Otoniel de Jesls Tejada
Jaramillo, Omar lvan Gutiérrez Nohava, Guillermo Andrés Mendoza Posso,
Nelson de Jesus Palacio Cardenas, Luis Modesto Munera, Dora Luz Areiza and
Alberto Correa, a well as Article 19 (Rights of the Child) thereof, to the
detriment of the minor, Wilmar de JeslUs Restrepo Torres, all of whom lost
their life in the facts that occurred in the municipal district of El Aro;

(d) 1(1) (Obligation to Respect Rights), 4 (Right to Life), 5 (Right to
Humane Treatment), 7 (Right to Personal Liberty), 8(1) (Right to a Fair Trial)
and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection), to the detriment of Marco Aurelio Areiza
and Rosa Areiza Barrera; and 21 (Right to Property) of the American
Convention, “to the detriment of the families identified [...] in paragraph 98
[of that report], victims of arson and the theft of livestock perpetrated in El
Aro by the paramilitary group, with the acquiescence and collaboration of
State agents.” The families identified by the petitioners, who appear in
paragraph 98 of that report are: “JesUs Maria Restrepo and family, Jahel Ester
Arroyave and family, Danilo Tejada Jaramillo and family, Mercedes Rosa Pérez
and family, Maria Esther Orrego and family, Rosa Maria Nohava and family,
Libardo Mendoza and family, Myriam Lucia Areiza and family, Maria Gloria
Granda and family, Martha Oliva Calle and family, Magdalena Zabala and
family, Oswaldo Pino and family, Luis Humberto Mendoza and family, José
Dionisio Garcia and family, Abdon Emilio Posada and family, Maria Resfa
Posso de Areiza and family, José Edilberto Martinez Restrepo and family,
Omar Alfredo Torres Jaramillo and family, Ricardo Alfredo Builes and family,
Javier Garcia and family, Bernardo Maria Jiménez Lopera and family, Gilberto
Lopera and family, and Ramdén Posada and family, as victims of the violation
of the right to property. However, [the representatives] did not clarify the
individual or collective relationship of these persons with the property that
was destroyed or stolen as a result of the actions of the paramilitary groups
and State agents.”

The Commission made certain recommendations in this report.

On April 30, 2004, the Commission forwarded the report on merits to the

State and granted it two months to provide information on the measures adopted to
comply with the recommendations it contained.



14. On July 30, 2004, in view of the failure of the Colombian State to comply with
the recommendations included in the report adopted under Article 50 of the
Convention, the Commission decided to file the case before the Court.

v
PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE COURT

15. The Commission filed the application before the Inter-American Court on July
30, 2004 (supra para. 1), attaching documentary evidence and offering testimonial
and expert evidence. The Commission appointed Susana Villardn and Santiago A.
Canton as delegates, and Ariel Dulitzk, Verdnica Gémez, Norma Colledani and Lilly
Ching as legal advisers.

16. On September 15, 2004, after the President of the Court (hereinafter “the
President”) had made a preliminary review of the application, the Secretariat of the
Court (hereinafter “the Secretariat”) notified it, together with the attachments, to the
representatives of the alleged victims and their next of kin, and to the State. It also
informed the latter of the time Ilimits for answering it and appointing its
representatives for the proceedings. The same day, on the instructions of the
President, the Secretariat advised the State of its right to appoint a Judge ad hoc in
this case.

17. On November 12, 2004, the State appointed Fernando Arboleda Ripoll, Felipe
Piquero and Luz Marina Gil as agent, deputy agent and adviser, respectively. It also
proposed that Jaime Enrique Granados Pefia be appointed Judge ad hoc.

18. On November 15, 2004, the representatives forwarded their brief with
requests arguments and evidence (hereinafter “requests and arguments brief”),
attaching documentary evidence and offering testimonial and expert evidence. In
this brief, they announced that they would “include additional [alleged] victims of the
[alleged] violations of the rights previously indicated” by the Commission, as well as
“new [alleged] victims of new rights [allegedly] violated, which had not been
included in the application.” In this regard, the representatives requested the Court
to rule on the alleged violations of the rights embodied in the following articles of the
American Convention, in addition to the rights indicated by the Commission (supra
para. 3):

(@) 5(1) (Right to Humane Treatment), “to the detriment of the [alleged]
victims who were executed [(supra para. 3(a)] and their next of kin”;

(b) 5(1) (Right to Humane Treatment), “to the detriment of the [alleged]
victims of forced displacement [(infra para. 18(f)], forced labor [(infra para.
18(c)] and [...] loss of property [(infra para. 18(e)]”;

(© 6 (Freedom from Slavery), to the detriment of Noveiri Antonio Jiménez
Jiménez, Francisco Osvaldo Pino Posada, Rodrigo Alberto Mendoza Posso and
Omar Alfredo Torres Jaramillo. Also to the detriment of Milciades De JesuUs
Crespo, Ricardo Barrera, Gilberto Lopera, Argemiro Echavarria, José Luis
Palacio, Roman Salazar, William Chavarria, Libardo Carvajal, Eduardo Rua,
Eulicio Garcia, Alberto Lopera “and those persons [allegedly] obliged to
execute forced Ilabor, and whose identity is established during the
proceedings”;



(d) 7 (Right to Personal Liberty), to the detriment of Jairo Sepulveda,
Marco Aurelio Areiza, Rosa Areiza, Francisco Osvaldo Pino Posada, Omar
Alfredo Torres Jaramillo, Rodrigo Alberto Mendoza Posso and Noveiri Antonio
Jiménez Jiménez. Also to the detriment of Milciades De Jesus Crespo, Ricardo
Barrera, Gilberto Lopera, Argemiro Echavarria, José Luis Palacio, Roman
Salazar, William Chavarria, Libardo Carvajal, Eduardo Rua, Eulicio Garcia,
Alberto Lopera “and those persons [allegedly] obliged to execute forced labor,
and whose identity is established during the proceedings”;

(e) 21 (Right to Property), to the detriment of Luis Humberto Mendoza
Arroyave, Libardo Mendoza, Francisco Osvaldo Pino Posada, Omar Alfredo
Torres Jaramillo, Ricardo Alfredo Builes Echeverri, Bernardo Maria Jiménez
Lopera, Maria Edilma Torres, Maria Esther Jaramillo Torres, Francisco Eladio
Ortiz Bedoya, Gustavo Adolfo Torres Jaramillo; the successors of Arcadio
Londofo: his wife and children, Maria Frecedis Aristizabal Cuartas, Angélica
Maria Londofio Aristizabal and Juan Manuel Londofio Aristizabal, and the
successors of Marco Aurelio Areiza Osorio: his wife and children, Carlina
Tobdn, Lilian Amparo, Miriam Lucia, Mario Alberto, Johny Aurelio and Gabriela
Patricia Areiza Tobd6n. And also the following personas: Argemiro Arango,
Antonio Mufoz, Miguel Angel Echavarria, Alfonso Gomez, Hilda Uribe, Jesus
Garcia and “the other persons who lost property and livestock, and who are
identified during the proceedings”; and

) 22(1) (Freedom of Movement and Residence), to the detriment of
Maria Libia Garcia De Correa, Adan Enrique Correa Garcia (deceased), Dora
Luz Correa Garcia, Moénica Liney Arango Correa, Ever Andrés Arango Correa,
Olga Regina Correa Garcia, Yolima Sirley Zapata Correa, Rodrigo Alexander
Zapata Correa, Adrian Felipe Zapata Correa, Olga Elena Zapata Correa, Sergio
Andrés Zapata Correa, Jorge Enrique Correa Garcia, Nubia De Los Dolores
Correa Garcia, Marta Cecilia Ochoa Correa, Mario Enrique Ochoa Correa,
Javier Mauricio Ochoa Correa, Luis Gonzalo Correa Garcia, Olga Cristina
Correa Tobdn, Maria Elena Correa Tobon, Samuel Antonio Correa Garcia,
Maria Edilma Torres Jaramillo, Miladis Del Carmen Restrepo Torres, Luis Ufran
Areiza Posso, Jael Esther Arroyave Posso, Servando Antonio Areiza Pino,
Maria Resfa Posso De Areiza, Nohelia Estella Areiza Arroyave, Freidon Esteban
Areiza Arroyave, Robinson Argiro Areiza Arroyave, Maria Doralba Areiza
Posso, Georgina Areiza Posso, Ligia Amanda Areiza Posso, Maria Bernarda
Areiza Posso, Maria Esther Orrego, Maria Elena Martinez Orrego, Rosa Delfina
Martinez Orrego, Carlos Arturo Martinez Orrego, José Edilberto Martinez
Orrego, Edilson Dario Orrego, William Andrés Orrego, Mercedes Rosa Patifio
Orrego, Eligio Pérez Aguirre, Yamilcen Eunice Pérez Areiza, Julio Eliver Pérez
Areiza, Eligio De Jesus Pérez Areiza, Omar Daniel Pérez Areiza, Ligia Lucia
Pérez Areiza, Luis Humberto Mendoza Arroyave, Fanny Del Socorro Garro
Molina, Juan Carlos Mendoza Garro, Fanny Eugenia Mendoza Garro, Bernardo
Maria Jiménez Lopera, Eugenio De Jesus Jiménez Jiménez, Emérida Del
Carmen Jiménez, Rosa Adela Jiménez Serna, Nicanor De Jesus Jiménez
Jiménez, Otoniel De Jesus Jiménez, Diomedes Javier Jiménez Jiménez, Beatriz
Elena Jiménez Jiménez, Luis Bernardo Jiménez, Héctor José Jiménez, Maria
Natividad Jiménez Jiménez, Fabian De Jesus Jiménez Jiménez, Eleazar De
Jesls Jiménez Jiménez, Noveiri Antonio Jiménez Jiménez, Maria Esther
Jaramillo Torres, Lucelly Amparo Posso MUnera, Omar Alfredo Torres Jaramillo
and Rocio Amparo Posada Molina. “In addition to all the persons whose
identity is established and who have been forcibly displaced.”



Lastly, the representatives asked the Court to order the State to adopt a series of
measures of pecuniary and non-pecuniary reparation and to pay the costs and
expenses arising from processing the case before the inter-American system for the
protection of human rights.

19. On January 14, 2005, the State submitted its brief filing preliminary
objections, answering the application and with observations on the requests and
arguments brief of the representatives (hereinafter “answer to the application”),
attaching documentary evidence and offering testimonial and expert evidence. In
this brief, the State “acknowledge[d] its international responsibility for the violation
of the obligation to respect rights in relation to the violation of the rights to life
[Article 4 of the American Convention], humane treatment [Article 5 of the American
Convention], personal liberty [Article 7 of the American Convention] and property
[Article 21 of the American Convention]” of those persons indicated in the application
(supra paras. 1 and 3).

20. The State indicated that “consequent with the facts and violations
acknowledged in the answer to the application, it [was] prepared to submit a
proposal for reparations drawn up in collaboration with the petitioners who duly
accredit[ed] their standing.” The State also “indicate[d] that it had not failed to
comply with any Convention obligation arising” from Articles 6 (Freedom from
Slavery), 19 (Rights of the Child), 22 (Freedom of Movement and Residence), 8
(Right to a Fair Trial) and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection) of the American
Convention. It also filed a preliminary objection based on the alleged failure to
exhaust domestic remedies.

21. On February 24, 2005, the representatives submitted arguments on the
preliminary objection filed by the State.

22. On March 7, 2005, the Commission forwarded its written arguments on the
preliminary objection filed by the State.

23. On July 28, 2005, the parties were notified of the order of the President of the
Court in which he decided to convene them to a public hearing at the seat of the
Court on September 22, 2005, to hear the statements of the witnesses and expert
witnesses proposed by the parties (infra para. 42), and also the final oral arguments
on the preliminary objection and merits, reparations and costs. In this order, the
President requested the seven persons® proposed as witnesses by the Commission;
the ten persons? proposed as witnesses by the representatives, and Bjorn Pettersson
and Alfredo De los Rios, proposed as expert witnesses by the representatives, and
Hernan Sanin Posada, proposed as an expert witness by the State, to submit their
testimony and expert evidence in statements made before notary public (affidavits).
In the order, the President rejected, as time-barred, the testimony of Jaime Jaramillo
Panesso, proposed by the State, and requested the State to forward the name of the
person whose statement it had proposed in his capacity as Deputy Prosecutor

1 The representatives and the witnesses themselves requested that their names should remain

confidential for reasons of safety.

2 The Inter-American Commission and the witnesses themselves requested that their names should

remain confidential for reasons of safety.



General. The President also informed the parties in this order that they had until
October 24, 2005, to present their final written arguments on the preliminary
objection and merits, reparations and costs.

24. On August 4, 2005, the State advised that the name of the person whose
statement it had proposed in his capacity as Deputy Prosecutor General was Jorge
Armando Otalora Gomez.

25. On August 5, 2005, the State requested the Court to revoke its decision to
reject, as time-barred, the testimony of Jaime Jaramillo Panesso, contained in the
President’s order of July 28, 2005 (supra para. 23).

26. On August 9, 2005, on the instructions of the President, the Commission and
the representatives were granted a non-extendible period of three days from
reception of the State’s communication of August 5, 2005, to submit any
observations they deemed pertinent.

27. On August 12, 2005, the Commission presented its observations on the
State’s offer of Jorge Armando Otalora Gomez, Deputy Prosecutor General, as a
witness, and also on the State’s request to revoke the decision to reject, as time-
barred, the testimony of Jaime Jaramillo Panesso, contained in the President’s order
of July 28, 2005 (supra para. 23).

28. On August 19, 2005, the parties were notified of an order of the President of
the Court, convening the witnesses proposed by the State, Jorge Armando Otalora
Gbémez and Jaime Jaramillo Panesso, to provide their testimony in a statement made
before notary public (affidavit), by September 2, 2005, at the latest.

29. On August 19, 2005, the representatives presented their observations on the
State’s request to revoke the decision to reject, as time-barred, the testimony of
Jaime Jaramillo Panesso, contained in the President’s order of July 28, 2005 (supra
para. 23). The observations were received by the Secretariat after notification of the
President’s order of August 19, 2005; the observations were therefore rejected as
time-barred.

30. On August 22, 2005, the State presented the expert testimony given before
notary public (affidavit) by Hernan Sanin Posada. On September 16, 2005, the State
presented the original and the attachments to this expert evidence.

31. On August 22, 2005, the representatives submitted the sworn statements of
the ten persons that the President had requested in his order of July 28, 20053
(supra para. 23), and also the expert evidence given before notary public (affidavit)
of Alfredo de los Rios.

32. On August 23, 2005, the Commission presented the sworn statements of the
six persons that the President had requested in his order of July 28, 2005* (supra

s The representatives and the witnesses themselves requested that their names should remain

confidential for reasons of safety.

4 The Commission and the witnesses themselves requested that their names should remain

confidential for reasons of safety.



para. 23). The Commission also advised that it desisted from submitting one of the
statements.

33. On August 31, 2005, the representatives requested reconsideration of the
President’s order of July 28, 2005, concerning the way in which the expert evidence
of Bjorn Pettersson would be received and, in substitution of the decision to receive
his expert evidence before notary public, that he should be convened to give his
evidence during the public hearing. On the instructions of the President, the
Commission and the State were granted until September 5, 2005, to submit any
comments they deemed pertinent.

34. On September 6, 2005, the Commission presented its comments on the offer
of Bjorn Pettersson’s expert evidence during the public hearing.

35. On September 8, 2005, the parties were informed that the Court did not
consider it necessary to change the way in which the expert evidence of Bjorn
Pettersson would be received. However, the Court decided to grant an extension to
September 20, 2005, for the representatives to forward this expert evidence in a
sworn statement before notary public.

36. On September 8, 2005, the State submitted its observations on the
testimonial and expert statements forwarded by the Commission and the
representatives. In this brief, the State indicated that the testimonies presented by
the Commission and the representatives, and the expert evidence presented by the
representatives, had not been provided by means of a statement made before notary
public (affidavit), as established in the Rules of Procedure.

37. On September 9, 2005, the State presented the testimony given before
notary public by Jorge Armando Otalora and Jaime Jaramillo Panesso.

38. On September 14 and 15, 2005, the representatives presented their
comments on the expert evidence of Hernan Sanin Posada and on the testimony
given by Jorge Armando Otalora and Jaime Jaramillo Panesso forwarded by the
State.

39. On September 14, 2005, the Commission presented its observations on the
sworn statements submitted to the Court by the State and the representatives
(supra paras. 30, 31 and 37).

40. On September 15, 2005, Bjorn Pettersson presented an expert report in
response to the request in the President’s order of July 28, 2005 (supra para. 23).

41. On September 20, 2005, the State reiterated “the acknowledgement of
international responsibility made in the brief answering the application.”

42. On September 22 and 23, 2005, at a public hearing, the Court received the
statements of the witnesses and the opinions of the expert witnesses proposed by
the parties, and heard the arguments of the Commission, the representatives and
the State on the preliminary objection, and merits, reparations and costs. There
appeared before the Court: (@) for the Inter-American Commission: Susana Villaran,
delegate, and Victor H. Madrigal Borloz, Juan Pablo Alban, Lilly Ching and Manuela
Cuvi, legal advisers; (b) for the representatives: Maria Victoria Fallon Morales,
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Patricia Fuenmayor Goémez and John Arturo Cardenas Mesa, of the Grupo
Interdisciplinario por los Derechos Humanos; and Carlos Rodriguez Mejia and Luz
Marina Monzén Cifuentes, of the Comision Colombiana de Juristas; and (c) for the
State: Felipe Piquero Villegas, agent; Luz Marina Gil Garcia, deputy agent; Clara Inés
Vargas Silva, Gladis Alvarez Arango, Martha Carrillo, Julio Anibal Riafio, Carlos
Rodriguez, Dionisio Araujo and Héctor Adolfo Sintura Varela, advisers. Also, one
witness proposed by the Inter-American Commission; two witnesses proposed by the
representatives; and Carlos Saavedra Prado, proposed as a witness by the State. In
addition, Rodrigo Uprimny Yepes, proposed by the Inter-American Commission and
Hernando Torres Corredor, proposed by the State, appeared as expert witnesses.

43. During the public hearing the parties provided various documents (infra
paras. 118 and 119).

44, On September 30, 2005, the representatives and the State were asked to
forward several documents as helpful evidence and their respective final written
arguments by October 24, 2005, at the latest. The State was asked to provide
updated information on the La Granja and ElI Aro criminal, administrative and
disciplinary proceedings. The State and the representatives were also asked to
forward: (a) a complete updated list with the names of all the persons who had
allegedly been displaced owing to the facts of the instant case; (b) information on
whether these persons had received help or support of any kind from the State due
to this situation; and (c) information on whether any of the alleged victims or their
next of kin had filed actions for protection of their constitutional rights (tutela) or
under administrative law in relation to the internal displacement. Lastly, the
representatives were asked to provide “a description of the damage suffered by each
of the alleged victims listed in the brief with requests, arguments and evidence
owing to the alleged violation of Article 21 of the American Convention (Right to
Property),” and also copies of some people’s identity documents.

45. On October 4, 2005, the Commission requested the Court to maintain the
confidentiality of the identity of certain persons who provided testimony by sworn
statements before notary public or at the public hearing before the Court. In this
regard, on the instructions of the President, the representatives and the State were
granted until October 19, 2005, to present any observations they deemed pertinent.
Neither the representatives nor the State submitted the respective observations.

46. On October 20, 2005, the representatives requested an additional four days
for submitting their final written arguments. On the instructions of the President, the
representatives were informed that, in keeping with the fourteenth operative
paragraph of the President’s order of July 28, 2005 (supra para. 23), the time limit
for presenting the final written arguments was non-extendible. Consequently, the
representatives were asked to present the said brief with final arguments as soon as
possible.

47. On October 24, 2005, the State submitted the helpful evidence requested on
September 30, 2005, and also its final written arguments. The original of the briefs
and their attachments were received by the Secretariat on October 27, 2005.

48. On October 24, 2005, the Inter-American Commission submitted its final
written arguments.
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49. On October 25, 2005, the representatives forwarded the helpful evidence
requested on September 29, 2005, and also their final written arguments. The
originals of the briefs and their attachments were received by the Secretariat on
October 28, 2005. In these briefs, the representatives alleged the existence of new
alleged victims in relation to Articles 21 and 22 of the Convention.

50. On April 19, 2006, the Commission appointed Victor Abramovich as delegate.

51. On June 26, 2006, on the instructions of the President and in the terms of
Article 45(2) of the Rules of Procedure, the Secretariat of the Court requested the
State and the representatives to forward, by June 29, 2006, at the latest, official
information concerning life expectancy and the minimum wage in force in Colombia
for each year from 1996 to 2006.

52. On June 28 and 29, 2006, the State and the representatives, respectively,
presented the helpful evidence requested by the President (supra para. 44).

53. On June 28, 2006, Judge ad hoc Granados Pefia advised the Court that, for
reasons beyond his control, he would be unable to attend the deliberation of the
judgment in this case and referred to Article 19(3) of the Rules of Procedure. He also
attached a document stating his position concerning the case. The Court in plenary
was informed of this communication.

54. On June 29, 2006, the Court considered the reasons why the Judge ad hoc
was unable to attend the deliberation of the instant case, bearing in mind that he
had been opportunely and duly convened, that his communication was received only
one day before the beginning of this deliberation, and that the Court is not
permanent and establishes the agenda of each session for the whole year in
advance, so that it was impossible to reschedule the deliberation of the ltuango
case. The Court therefore decided to continue hearing the case without his
participation, in application of Article 19(3) of its Rules of Procedure.

\V/
PRIOR CONSIDERATIONS

55. The Court will now proceed to determine: (a) the implications of the State’s
acknowledgement of international responsibility; (b) the scope of the subsisting
dispute, and (c) the alleged victims in this case.

a) Acknowledgement of international responsibility

56. Article 53(2) of the Rules of Procedure establishes:

If the respondent informs the Court of its acquiescence to the claims of the party that
has brought the case as well as to the claims of the representatives of the alleged
victims, his next of kin or representatives, the Court, after hearing the opinions of the
other parties to the case shall decide whether such acquiescence and its juridical effects
are acceptable. In that event, the Court shall determine the appropriate reparations and
costs.

57. The Inter-American Court, in exercise of its contentious function, applies and
interprets the American Convention and, when a case has been submitted to its
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jurisdiction, is empowered to declare the international responsibility of a State Party
to the Convention for the violation of its provisions.®

58. The Court, in the exercise of its inherent powers of international judicial
protection of human rights, may determine whether a defendant State’s
acknowledgement of international responsibility provides satisfactory grounds, in the
terms of the American Convention, for continuing to hear the merits and determining
possible reparations. To this end, the Court must examine the situation in each
specific case.®

59. In its answer to the application (supra para. 19), Colombia acknowledged its
international responsibility for the violation of Articles 4(1) (Right to Life), 5(1)
(Right to Humane Treatment), 7(1) (Right to Personal Liberty) and 21(1) (Right to
Property) of the Convention, to the detriment of those persons indicated in the
application filed by the Commission (supra para. 3). In addition, the State indicated
that, “in this case, the said violations involve[d] a violation of the obligation to
respect the rights and freedoms enshrined in the Convention (Article 1(1) thereof,
which [was] attributable to the State, pursuant to international law, given the
participation of its agents in the facts.”

60. The State also affirmed that it had not violated Articles 19 (Rights of the
Child), 8(1) (Right to a Fair Trial) and 25(1) (Right to Judicial Protection) of the
Convention, alleged by both the Commission and the representatives (supra paras. 3
and 18), or Articles 6 (Freedom from Slavery) and 22 (Freedom of Movement and
Residence) of the Convention, alleged by the representatives (supra para. 18).

61. The State did not refer to the alleged violation of Article 5 (Right to Humane
Treatment) of the Convention, to the detriment of the persons executed and their
next of kin, as alleged by the representatives in their requests and arguments brief.
Also, Colombia did not refer to the alleged violation of Articles 5 (Right to Humane
Treatment), 7 (Right to Personal Liberty) and 21 (Right to Property) of the
Convention, to the detriment of the persons indicated by the representatives in their
requests and arguments brief (supra para. 18), who were not included in the State’s
acknowledgement (supra para. 19). Also, the representatives had requested that
“those persons whose identity is established during the proceedings” before the
Court should be included as alleged victims in this case, based on the violation of
Articles 5, 7, 21 and 22 of the Convention (supra para. 18).

62. In its answer to the application, the State indicated that “the reparations
recognized by the State [..] in the conciliation hearings conducted in the
administrative jurisdiction should be considered fair and sufficient in relation to the
rights to life and property, in the specific cases that were the subject of this
procedure.” In addition, it indicated that it was “willing to submit a proposal for
reparations, drawn up in collaboration with the petitioners who duly accredit their
standing.” Finally, it stated that “the recognition of reparations and costs is

5 Cf. Case of Balde6n Garcia. Judgment of April 6, 2006. Series C No. 147, para. 37; Case of
Blanco Romero et al.. Judgment of November 28, 2005. Series C No. 138, para. 54; and Case of Garcia
Asto and Ramirez Rojas. Judgment of November 25, 2005. Series C No. 137, para. 57.

6 Cf. Case of Baldedn Garcia, supra note 5, para. 38; Case of Blanco Romero et al., supra note 5,

para. 55; and Case of Garcia Asto and Ramirez Rojas, supra note 5, para. 58.
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conditioned to the evidence presented by the Commission and the petitioners, taking
into account that, even when applying the principle of equity, the principles of
reasonableness and proportionality limit the State’s possibility of recognizing them to
the quantitative and qualitative validation of the amount and how this is calculated.”

63. On September 20, 2005, the State reiterated in writing the acknowledgement
of international responsibility made in the answer to the application (supra para. 41)
and indicated that the violation of the obligation to respect rights embodied in the
Convention “was attributable to it, pursuant to the provisions of international law,
owing to the participation in the facts of its agents, which was clearly illegal and
outside institutional mandates; however, this acknowledgement did not in any way
imply the weighing or assessing of individual responsibilities.”

64. During the public hearing (supra para. 42) the State indicated that:

[...] Following the regrettable facts that are the grounds for these proceedings, the
Colombian judicial and disciplinary authorities initiated investigations, implemented the
necessary procedures and have been adopting the corresponding legal decisions.
Based on the evidence collected, the authorities have found that the incursions carried
out by the so-called United Self-Defense Forces of Colombia in the municipal districts
of La Granja and El Aro of the Municipality of Ituango on June 11, 1996, and between
October 22 and 26, 1997, respectively, were planned and led by well-known leaders of
that illegal armed organization and carried out by men under their supervision, and
they also found that State agents took part in some of the criminal acts that
occurred in the context of the said raids. It reiterates expressly and publicly the
acknowledgement of its responsibility made when answering the application in the
instant case [(supra para. 19).]

[-]

It ratifies that this acknowledgement of responsibility does not imply weighing or
evaluating individual responsibilities.

It requests the Court’s permissions to ask the Commission and the victims’
representatives to inform all the victims and their next of kin of [...] this declaration by
the State and, particularly, the following: [..] It expresses its respect and
consideration for the victims and their next of kin and apologizes for the
improper and unlawful conduct of some of its agents in relation to the facts of
the instant case. [Emphasis added.]

65. In its brief with final arguments, the State reiterated the acknowledgement of
responsibility made in the answer to the application and during the public hearing
(supra paras. 19, 63 and 64). Colombia also indicated that “most of the merits of the
case are encompassed by the acknowledgement of responsibility, particularly with
regard to the participation of State agents in some of the criminal acts that were
perpetrated in the context of the incursions of the United Self-Defense Forces of
Colombia in La Granja and El Aro.” In addition, the State considered:

That, in particular, the following legal issues indicated by the Commission and the
representatives of the victims were not encompassed by the acknowledgement of
responsibility: (i) the existence of an unjustified delay in deciding the domestic
recourses; (ii) the violation of Articles 8(1) and 25(1) of the American Convention, in
relation to Article 1(1) [thereof] (concerning investigation, sanction and reparation
obligations); (iii) the violation of Article 22(1) of the American Convention; (iv) the
violation of Article 19 of the [American] Convention, and (v) the measures of
reparation.

66. During the said public hearing, and referring to the State’s acknowledgement
of responsibility, the Commission stated the following, inter alia:
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[..] It was pleased to observe the acknowledgement of responsibility made by the
Colombian State in its brief answering the application and in several subsequent briefs
[...]; without detriment to the foregoing, the Commission understands that there are still
certain issues in dispute[.]

67. Also during the said public hearing, the representatives stated the following,
inter alia, with regard to the State’s acknowledgement of responsibility:

[...] Taking into account the partial acknowledgement of responsibility made by the State
of Colombia, [..] we wish to ask the Court to incorporate into the judgment, the
acknowledgement of responsibility for violation of the right to life of all the victims, the
partial acknowledgment of responsibility for violation of the right to humane treatment of
most of the 200 victims that are included in these proceedings, to incorporate the partial
acknowledgement of responsibility for the violation of the right to personal liberty of only
two of the 18 victims who suffered this violation, and the partial acknowledgement of
responsibility for the violation of the right to property of six of the 22 victims who suffered
the violation of this right.

68. In its brief with final arguments, the Commission indicated that “both the
facts that have been acknowledged and those that remain in dispute and have been
proved, substantiate State responsibility for the violation of Articles 4, 5, 7 and 21 of
the Convention[,] in relation to its Article 1(1), as do the lack of due judicial
clarification of the facts, reparation of their effects, and the consequent violation of
Articles 8, 19, 22 and 25 [of this treaty], which still form part of the dispute.”

69. The representatives did not refer to the State’s partial acknowledgement of
international responsibility in its brief with final arguments

i The State’s acknowledgement concerning the facts

70. Bearing in mind the State’s acknowledgement of international responsibility
(supra paras. 19, 59, 63, and 64), the Court considers that the dispute concerning
the facts alleged in the application has ceased (supra paras. 1 and 2), with the
exception of those relating to the proceedings in this case in the criminal,
administrative and disciplinary jurisdictions, and the determination of the alleged
victims named by the representatives, and reparations and costs.

71. Consequently, the Court considers it pertinent to open a chapter on the facts
of this case that covers both the facts acknowledged by the State and those that
have been proved by all the elements in the case file.

ii. The acquiescence of the State concerning the legal claims

72. The Court considers that it is pertinent to admit the State’s acknowledgement
of international responsibility for violation of the rights embodied in the following
provisions of the American Convention that were alleged in the application filed by
the Commission (supra paras. 1 and 3): Article 4 (Right to Life), to the detriment of
William de JesUs Villa Garcia, Maria Graciela Arboleda Rodriguez, Héctor Hernan
Correa Garcia, Jairo de JesUs Sepulveda Arias, Arnulfo Sanchez Alvarez, José Dario
Martinez Pérez, Olcris Fail Diaz Pérez, Wilmar de Jesus Restrepo Torres, Omar de
Jesus Ortiz Carmona, Fabio Antonio Zuleta Zabala, Otoniel de JesUs Tejada Jaramillo,
Omar Ivan Gutiérrez Nohava, Guillermo Andrés Mendoza Posso, Nelson de Jesus
Palacio Cardenas, Luis Modesto Munera Posada, Dora Luz Areiza Arroyave, Alberto
Correa, Marco Aurelio Areiza Osorio and Elvia Rosa Areiza Barrera; Article 7(1) (Right
to Personal Liberty), to the detriment of Jairo de Jesus Sepulveda Arias, Marco
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Aurelio Areiza Osorio and Elvia Rosa Areiza Barrera; Article 5(2) (Right to Humane
Treatment), to the detriment of Marco Aurelio Areiza Osorio and Elvia Rosa Areiza
Barrera; and Article 21(1) (Right to Property), to the detriment of Luis Humberto
Mendoza, Libardo Mendoza, Francisco Osvaldo Pino Posada, Omar Alfredo Torres
Jaramillo, Ricardo Alfredo Builes Echeverry and Bernardo Maria Jiménez Lopera, all in
relation to Article 1(1) (Obligation to Respect Rights) thereof.

iii. Claims for reparations

73. The Court observes that the State did not acquiesce to any of the claims for
reparations and costs presented by the Commission and the representatives (supra
para. 62).

b) Scope of the subsisting dispute

74. In their requests and arguments brief, the representatives included additional
alleged victims of the violations of the rights alleged by the Commission, and further
alleged victims and other allegedly violated rights that were not included in the
application (supra para. 18).

75. In their brief with final arguments, the representatives indicated, inter alia,
that the allegations regarding the child, Wilmar Restrepo, were “applicable [to] the
other children who were the [alleged] direct victims of the violent behavior of the
paramilitary group and the agents of the Colombian State in the municipal districts of
La Granja and El Aro and also to the other children, members of the families who
were victims of the violations committed during these events.” In this regard, they
requested that “in application of the iura novit curia principle, [the Court] should rule
on the same violation with regard to the grandchildren of Elvia Garcia and to the
children who lived in El Aro.” They also stated that the violation of the right to
property “was applicable to all the [alleged] victims who lost their property and
livelihood in El Aro, and who are listed in detail in the brief of helpful evidence
requested by the Court, in the attachment with concluding arguments, and in the
section on reparations.” Lastly, the representatives asked the Court to declare that
the State had violated the right to freedom of movement and residence of “724
persons who have been individualized and to establish compensation for each of
them on grounds of equity” (supra para. 49).

76. The State denied that it had violated Articles 6 (Freedom from Slavery), 8(1)
(Right to a Fair Trial), 19 (Rights of the Child), 22 (Freedom of Movement and
Residence) and 25(1) (Right to Judicial Protection) of the Convention, to the
detriment of the alleged victims as alleged by the Commission and the
representatives (supra para. 20).

77. The State did not expressly contest the assertions regarding alleged violations
of Articles 5 (Right to Humane Treatment), 7 (Right to Personal Liberty) and 21
(Right to Property) of the Convention, to the detriment of the persons indicated by
the representatives in their requests and arguments brief, who were not included in
the State’s acquiescence (supra paras. 19, 59, 63 and 64).

78. In accordance with the arguments of the parties, the Court considers that the
dispute between them subsists with regard to:
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@ The alleged violation of Article 5(1) (Right to Humane Treatment) of
the Convention, to the detriment of the persons executed and their next of
kin; and also of the alleged victims of forced displacement, forced labor, and
loss of their property who were not included in the State’s acknowledgement
of responsibility (supra paras. 60 and 61);

(b) The alleged violation of Article 6 (Freedom from Slavery) of the
Convention, to the detriment of the alleged victims who were obliged to herd
livestock following the events of El Aro (supra para. 60);

(©) The alleged violation of Article 7 (Right to Personal Liberty) of the
Convention, to the detriment of the persons who were allegedly deprived of
their liberty during the events of EI Aro, who were indicated by the
representatives in their requests and arguments brief (supra para. 61), and
who were not included in the State’s acquiescence (supra paras. 19, 59, 63
and 64);

(d) The alleged violation of Article 19 (Rights of the Child) of the
Convention to the detriment of the child, Wilmar De JesUs Restrepo Torres,
and of “the other children who were direct victims of the violent behavior of
the paramilitary group and the agents of the Colombian State in the municipal
districts of La Granja and El Aro and also of the other children, members of
the families who were victims of the violations committed during these
events” (supra paras. 60, 61 and 75);

(e) The alleged violation of Article 21 (Right to Property) of the
Convention, to the detriment of the persons indicated by the representatives
in their requests and arguments brief (supra para. 18), who were not included
in the State’s acquiescence (supra paras. 19, 59, 63, 64 and 77), as well as
“all the [alleged] victims who lost their property and their livelihood in EI Aro,
and who are listed in detail in the brief of helpful evidence requested by the
Court, in the [representatives’ brief with final arguments in the] attachment
with concluding arguments, and in the section on reparations” (supra para.
75);

) The alleged violation of Article 22 (Freedom of Movement and
Residence) of the Convention to the detriment of “724 persons who have
been individualized,” who were displaced as a result of the facts of the instant
case (supra para. 75);

(9) The facts relating to an alleged violation of Articles 8(1) (Right to a
Fair Trial) and 25(1) (Right to Judicial Protection) of the Convention, in
relation to Article 1(1) thereof, to the detriment of all the alleged victims and
their next of kin; and

(h) The determination of reparations and costs (supra para. 73).

*
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79. The Court considers that the State’s acquiescence constitutes a positive
contribution to the development of these proceedings and to the exercise of the
principles that inspire the American Convention.” In the case sub judice, the Court
appreciates particularly the way in which the State made this acknowledgement
during the public hearing of this case; namely, apologizing to the alleged victims and
their next of kin (supra para. 64).

80. Nevertheless, taking into account the State’s responsibility to protect human
rights and given the nature of this case, the Court considers that delivering a
judgment which determines the truth of the facts and all the elements of the merits
of the case, and the corresponding consequences, constitutes a form of reparation
for the alleged victims and their next of kin and a contribution to avoiding the
repetition of similar acts.®

81. Also, without prejudice to the acquiescence regarding the violation of Article 4
(Right to Life) of the Convention, in relation to Article 1(1) (Obligation to Respect
Rights) thereof, to the detriment of the 19 persons executed in La Granja and El Aro
(supra para. 3), the Court considers it essential to make some observations on
certain points related to the obligations established in this article (infra paras. 126 to
138).

c) Determination of the alleged victims in this case

82. Article 61(1) of the Convention stipulates that:

Only the States Parties and the Commission shall have the right to submit a case to the
Court.

83. Article 2(30) of the Rules of Procedure establishes that:

The expression “alleged victim” refers to the person whose rights under the Convention
are alleged to have been violated.

84. Article 23(1) of the Rules of Procedure indicates that:

When the application has been admitted, the alleged victims, their next of kin or their
duly accredited representatives may submit their pleadings, motions and evidence,
autonomously, throughout the proceeding.

85. Article 33(1) of the Rules of Procedure indicates that the brief containing the
application shall indicate:

The claims (including those relating to reparations and costs); the parties to the case; a
statement of the facts; the orders on the opening of the proceeding and the admissibility
of the petition by the Commission; the supporting evidence, indicating the facts on
which it will bear; the particulars of the witnesses and expert witnesses and the subject
of their statements; the legal arguments, and the pertinent conclusions. In addition, the
Commission shall include the name and address of the original petitioner, and also the

’ Cf. Case of Baldedn Garcia, supra note 5, para. 55; Case of Blanco Romero et al., supra note 5,

para. 64; and Case of Garcia Asto and Ramirez Rojas, supra note 5, para. 60.

8 Cf. Case of Baldedtn Garcia, supra note 5, para. 56; and Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”.

Judgment of September 15, 2005. Series C No. 134, para. 69.
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name and address of the alleged victims, their next of kin or their duly accredited
representatives, when this is possible.

86. Article 44 of the Rules of Procedure establishes that:

1. Items of evidence tendered by the parties shall be admissible only if previous
notification thereof is contained in the application and in the reply thereto and, when
appropriate, in the document setting out the preliminary objections and in the answer
thereto.

[-]

3. Should any of the parties allege force majeure, serious impediment or the
emergence of supervening events as grounds for producing an item of evidence, the
Court may, in that particular instance, admit such evidence at a time other than those
indicated above, provided that the opposing parties are guaranteed the right of defense.

4. In the case of the alleged victim, his next of kin or his duly accredited
representatives, the admission of evidence shall also be governed by the provisions of
Articles 23, 36 and 37(5) of the Rules of Procedure.

87. Article 45 of the Rules of Procedure establishes that the Court may,
any stage of the proceedings:

1. Obtain, on is own motion, any evidence it considers helpful. In particular, it may
hear as a witness, expert witness, or in any other capacity, any person whose evidence,
statement or opinion it deems to be relevant.

2. Request the parties to provide any evidence within their reach or any explanation or
statement that, in its opinion, may be useful.

3. Request any entity, office, organ or authority of its choice to obtain information,
express an opinion, or deliver a report or pronouncement on any given point. The
documents may not be published without the authorization of the Court.

4. Commission one or more of its members to hold hearings, including preliminary
hearings, either at the seat of the Court or elsewhere, for the purpose of gathering
evidence.

88. In this case, the representatives have included “additional [alleged] victims of
the violations of the rights alleged” by the Commission, in relation to Articles 5, 7, 19
and 21 of the Convention as well as “further [alleged] victims and other rights
[allegedly] violated that were not contained in the application” in relation to Articles
6 and 22 thereof (supra paras. 18, 74 and 75). The representatives also indicated
that the alleged violations of Articles 6, 7, 21 and 22 of the Convention should be
considered to the detriment of those persons whose “identity is established during
the proceedings” before the Court (supra paras. 18).

89. Regarding the facts that are the object of the proceedings, the Court has
already established that the representatives may not allege facts distinct from those
set out in the application, without detriment to describing facts that explain, clarify
or reject those mentioned in the application, or that respond to the claims of the
applicant.® This does not imply in any way affecting the object of the application or
violating the right to defense of the State, which has the procedural opportunities to

9 Cf. Case of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community. Judgment of March 29, 2006. Series C No.

146, para. 68; Case of the Pueblo Bello Massacre. Judgment of January 31, 2006. Series C No. 140, para.
54; and Case of Garcia Asto and Ramirez Rojas, supra note 5, para. 73.
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respond to the allegations of the Commission and the representatives at all stage of
the proceedings. Finally, it is for the Court to decide on the admissibility of
allegations in each case in order to safeguard the procedural equality of the parties.*®
The case of supervening facts is different, since they may be presented by any of the
parties at any stage of the proceedings prior to delivery of the judgment.*!

90. The Court will now determine, pursuant to the Rules of Procedure and its case
law, and bearing in mind the characteristics of this specific case, which of the people
who were not included by the State’s acknowledgement of responsibility will be
considered alleged victims in this case.

91. The Court has developed extensive case law on the determination of alleged
victims in the cases it hears using criteria applicable to the circumstances of this
case. According to Article 50 of the Convention, the alleged victims must be indicated
in the application and in the Commission’s report. However, owing to the
particularities of each case this has not always been so, and the Court has therefore
considered as alleged victims persons who were not alleged as such in the
application, provided that the right to defense of the parties has been respected and
that the alleged victims have some connection with the facts described in the
application and the evidence provided to the Court.*?

92. Particularly in cases of massacres or of multiple victims, the Court has been
flexible in the identification of alleged victims, even when they have been alleged in
the Commission’s application as “the survivors” of the massacre and “their next of
kin,” or when the parties have submitted additional information on the identification
of the alleged victims in briefs submitted subsequent to the application.*® In other
cases involving massacres, the Court has considered as alleged victims, “the persons
identified by the Commission in its application [...] and those who may be identified
subsequently, since the complexities and difficulties in individualizing them, suggest
that there are still other victims to be determined.”**

93. In some cases, the Court has emphasized that the right to defense of the
parties is the determining criteria.*® Nevertheless, even in the presence of objections

10 Cf. Case of the Pueblo Bello Massacre, supra note 9, para. 54; and Case of the “Mapiripan

Massacre”, supra note 8, para. 58.

1 Cf. Case of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community, supra note 9, para. 69; Case of the Pueblo

Bello Massacre, supra note 9, para. 54; and Case of the “MapiripAn Massacre”, supra note 8, paras. 57
and 59.

12 Cf. Case of Acevedo Jaramillo et al. Judgment of February 7, 2006. Series C No. 144, para. 227;

Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”, supra note 8, para. 183; Case of the Moiwana Community. Judgment of
June 15, 2005. Series C No. 124, para. 74; Case of the “Juvenile Reeducation Institute”. Judgment
September 2, 2004. Series C No. 112, para. 111; and Case of the Plan de Sanchez Massacre. Judgment of
April 29, 2004. Series C No. 105, para. 48.

13 Cf. Case of the Moiwana Community, supra note 12, para. 74; and Case of the “Juvenile

Reeducation Institute”, supra note 12, para. 111

14 Cf. Case of the Plan de Sanchez Massacre, supra note 12, para. 48. Cf. likewise, Case of the

“Mapiripdn Massacre”, supra note 8, paras. 183 and 305.

15 Cf. Case of the Moiwana Community, supra note 12, para. 74; and Case of the “Juvenile

Reeducation Institute”, supra note 12, para. 111.
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by the State, the Court has considered that such alleged new victims should be
included.*®

94, Based on it jurisdictional function and pursuant to Article 62 of the
Convention, which indicates that the Court has jurisdiction to hear “all cases
concerning the interpretation and application of the provisions of [the] Convention,”
in cases with multiple alleged victims, the Court has considered several ways to
overcome “shortcomings in the identification or individualization of some of the
alleged victims” in the application,’” whose names are to be found in the briefs
where other alleged victims appear. For example, the Court has requested the
Commission to remedy such flaws by presenting lists of alleged victims identified
following the application.*® Also, in cases where the alleged victims “have or have not
been identified or individualized” in the application,® the Court has ordered the State
to “individualize and identify the victims [...] and their next of kin,” for the effects of
reparations.?° Finally, the Court has taken the initiative to overcome the
shortcomings in the identification of alleged victims in the application, by its own
examination of the evidence presented by the parties, even when the parties have
admitted that some people “by error, were not included in the list of alleged
victims.”?! Likewise, the Court has declared individuals who were identified in the
evidence provided by the parties as “possible victims,” even when these people were
not identified in the Commission’s application.??

95. The foregoing makes it clear that, although the identification of alleged
victims in a case is governed by the parameters established in the Convention and in
the Rules of Procedure, the Court, based on its jurisdictional function and in
accordance with Article 62 of the Convention, may take decisions in this respect, that
take into account the particularities of each case and the rights regarding which a
violation has been alleged, provided that the right to defense of the parties is
respected and that the alleged victims have some connection with the facts
described in the application and the evidence provided to the Court.

96. In keeping with these criteria, the Court will examine the determination of the
alleged victims in this case who were not included in the State’s acknowledgement of
responsibility in the chapters on the merits of each alleged violation.

97. The Court deems it pertinent to indicate its concern regarding the discrepancy
between the persons indicated by the Commission in its report based on Article 50 of
the Convention as alleged victims of Article 21 thereof, versus the persons that its
application alleges are victims of this article (supra paras. 3 and 11). Neither the

16 Cf. Case of the Moiwana Community, supra note 12, para. 71.

o Cf. Case of the “Juvenile Reeducation Institute”, supra note 12, paras. 107 and 111.
18 Cf. Case of the “Juvenile Reeducation Institute”, supra note 12, paras. 107 and 111.
19 Cf. Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”, supra note 8, paras. 247 and 252.

20 Cf. Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”, supra note 8, paras. 305 and 306.

2 Cf. Case of Acevedo Jaramillo et al., supra note 12, para. 227.

22 Cf. Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”, supra note 8, paras. 255 and 258.
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number nor names of the individuals listed in these two documents coincide. The
Court also notes that the persons alleged by the representatives in their requests
and arguments brief are totally different from those indicated in the said Article 50
report (supra paras. 11 and 18).

98. This Court has had to make a laborious examination of the evidence provided
by the parties in order to extract the elements required to make a precise
identification of the victims, since the Commission’s application did not include
complete information in this regard. The Court observes that the Commission’s
application contained general references to the victims in relation to some groups of
them, such as “17 herdsmen” or “victims of displacement,” without providing the
necessary details for the appropriate identification of individual alleged victims. The
Court considers that, in accordance with Article 33(1) of the Rules of Procedure of
the Court, it corresponds to the Commission, and not to the Court, to identify
precisely the alleged victims in a case before the Court.

Vi
PRELIMINARY OBJECTION

99. In the brief answering the application (supra para. 19), the State filed a
preliminary objection based on the “undue application of the requirement of prior
exhaustion of domestic remedies” established in Article 46(1)(a) of the Convention.

The State’s arguments
100. Regarding this preliminary objection, the State indicated that:

€)) The inter-American system of protection and respect for human rights
is of a “subsidiary [nature] to the mechanisms that the States themselves
have established to ensure the respect and guarantee of rights and freedoms
in the domestic sphere”;

(b) “Opportunely, repeatedly and coherently, the State opposed the
admission [...] of these cases, because it considered that domestic remedies
had not been exhausted”;

(©) The Commission drafted a joint report on the La Granja and El Aro
cases, with its respective conclusions and recommendations, “before domestic
remedies had been exhausted and in the absence of an unjustified delay in
the decisions”;

(d) “Some of the next of kin of the alleged victims who have become
parties to the international proceedings never made use of the mechanisms
established in domestic law to seek compensation for the damage they allege
they have suffered [, such as an] autonomous civil proceedings or one filed
within the criminal proceedings, or [an] administrative action for direct
reparation”;

(e) Since the burden of proof falls on the Commission regarding the facts
on which the application is based, “there does not appear to be any evidence
at all [in the application] that domestic remedies have been exhausted or that
there has been an unjustified delay in the decisions [...]. Moreover, there is
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no specific evidence concerning this issue in the admissibility reports that the
Commission adopted with regard to each of the cases considered
individually”;

) “It was clear, during the proceedings before the Commission [...] that
the existing domestic remedies for the protection of the rights and freedoms,
whose violation is the subject of the application, are absolutely appropriate,
have always been available to the alleged victims and their next of kin, and
have been processed by the competent authorities in the way and in the
terms established by domestic norms”; and

(g) The remedies under domestic law for the protection of the rights and
freedoms whose violation is the subject of the application “are still being
processed. Decisions have already been handed down in some of them, which
have protected the rights of the alleged victims and their next of kin, and final
decisions are awaited in others.”

The Commission’s arguments

101.
that:

Regarding the preliminary objection filed by the State, the Commission stated

(@ The Court should proceed “to examine the [preliminary objection]
together with the merits of the case; reject it as inadmissible and groundless
[...] and reaffirm its jurisdiction to examine the merits of the case”;

(b) “The procedural opportunity to file objections concerning the
exhaustion of domestic remedies is when [the Commission] is examining
admissibility”;

(©) “The content of the admissibility decisions adopted [by the
Commission] should not be substantially re-examined and should be
considered final”;

(d) “Only the remedies that are adequate for repairing the alleged
violations must be exhausted. To be adequate, the function of these domestic
remedies must be appropriate to protect the legal situation that has been
violated”;

(e) “The alleged facts [...] involve the alleged violation of fundamental
non-derogable rights, such as the right to life and humane treatment, which,
under domestic law, translate into crimes that may be prosecuted de oficio
and, therefore, it is this procedure, promoted by the State itself, that must be
[exhausted]”;

) “Rulings of a disciplinary nature do not satisfy the obligations
established in the Convention concerning judicial protection, because they are
not an effective and sufficient way to prosecute, sanction and repair the
consequences of the extrajudicial execution of individuals protected by the
Convention”;

(9) “Regarding the exhaustion of the administrative jurisdiction, [...] this
type of proceedings is exclusively a mechanism for supervising the State’s
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administrative activities, designed to obtain compensation for damages
resulting from an abuse of authority. In general, this procedure alone is not
an adequate mechanism to repair cases of human rights violations, so that is
does not need to be exhausted in a case such as this one when there is
another mechanism to achieve the reparation of the damage and the required
prosecution and sanctions”; and

(h) There has been an unjustified delay in the criminal investigation of the
facts.

The representatives’ arguments

102. Regarding the preliminary objection filed by the State, the representatives
indicated that:

(@ The preliminary objection “is groundless” and, therefore, the Court
should reject it;

(b) The State had presented a preliminary objection and an
acknowledgement of responsibility simultaneously, acquiescing to several of
the claims in the Commission’s application, which “constituted a subsequent
waiver of objections”;

(©) “The appropriateness of the remedies stems from their ability to result
in the effective integral reparation of the alleged violations[.] Integral
reparation is understood to mean the identification, prosecution and sanction
of those responsible, and also the reparations intended to guarantee that
similar facts will not recur and that the damage caused is compensated”;

(d) The “purpose of the criminal proceedings in the domestic sphere is to
identify, prosecute and punish those responsible, and also to re-establish the
rights and to compensate the damage caused.” Consequently, this remedy
was the one that “the [alleged] victims and their next of kin should exhaust to
obtain the protection of their rights in the terms of the Convention”;

(e) The determination of the responsibility of public officials by means of
disciplinary proceedings “is merely aimed at assessing that their actions
correspond to the norms regulating the performance of their public functions.”
During the disciplinary proceedings, there is no “possibility of suing all those
responsible, but merely individuals in their capacity as public officials.”
Additionally, “the disciplinary investigation does not provide access to the
[alleged] victims and their next of kin.” Consequently, the disciplinary
proceeding does not have “the scope of punishment in the terms of the
Convention”;

) The financial compensation available as the result of administrative
proceedings “cannot be understood as integral reparation in the terms of the
Convention, [because] it only covers the financial aspect, and disregards the
re-establishment of the rights through the determination of the truth and the
identification, prosecution and punishment of those responsible”; and

(9) When the El Aro and La Granja cases were submitted to the inter-
American system, “the investigations undertaken as a result of the facts had
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not made significant progress, despite the time that had elapsed and there
was no justification for [these delays].” “Subsequent progress in the
investigations does not influence the assessment of the prior exhaustion of
domestic remedies.”

The Court’s findings

103. In the instant case, the State has acknowledged its international responsibility
for violation of Articles 4 (Right to Life), 5 (Right to Humane Treatment), 7 (Right to
Personal Liberty) and 21 (Right to Property) of the American Convention with regard
to the persons indicated in the application (supra paras. 19, 59, 63 and 64).

104. By acknowledging its responsibility in this case, the State has implicitly
accepted the Court’s full jurisdiction to hear the case;?® thus, Colombia has tacitly
waived the preliminary objection it had filed. Moreover, the content of that objection
is closely related to the merits of the case, particularly with regard to the alleged
violation of Articles 8 and 25 of the Convention. Therefore, this preliminary objection
must be rejected and the Court will rule on the arguments of the parties in this
respect in the chapters on merits of this judgment (infra paras. 283 and ff.).

Vil
EVIDENCE

105. Before examining the evidence received, the Court will make some
observations in light of the provisions of Article 44 and 45 of the Rules of Procedure,
which are applicable to the specific case, most of which have been developed in its
case law.

106. The adversary principle, which respects the right of the parties to defend
themselves, applies to matters pertaining to evidence. This principle is embodied in
Article 44 of the Rules of Procedure, as regards the time at which the evidence
should be submitted to ensure equality between the parties.?*

107. According to the Court’s practice, at the commencement of each procedural
stage, the parties must indicate the evidence they will offer at the first opportunity
they are given to communicate with the Court in writing. Moreover, in exercise of the
discretional powers included in Article 45 of its Rules of Procedure, the Court or its
President may request the parties to provide additional probative elements as helpful
evidence; and this shall not provide a new opportunity for expanding or completing

the arguments or offering fresh evidence, unless the Court expressly permits it.?
28 Cf. Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”, supra note 8, paras. 247 and 252.
28 Cf. Case of the “Mapiripan Massacre”. Preliminary objections and acknowledgement of

responsibility. Judgment of March 7, 2005. Series C No. 122, para. 30.

24 Cf. Case of Balde6n Garcia, supra note 5, para. 60; Case of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous

Community, supra note 9, para. 30; and Case of Acevedo Jaramillo et al., supra note 12, para. 183.

2 Cf. Case of Baldeén Garcia, supra note 5, para. 61; Case of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous

Community, supra note 9, para. 31; and Case of Acevedo Jaramillo et al., supra note 12, para. 184.
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108. In the matter of receiving and weighing evidence, the Court has indicated that
its proceedings are not subject to the same formalities as domestic proceedings and,
when incorporating certain elements into the body of evidence, particular attention
must be paid to the circumstances of the specific case and to the limits imposed by
respect for legal certainty and the procedural equality of the parties. Likewise, the
Court has taken account of international case law; by considering that international
courts have the authority to assess and evaluate the evidence according to the rules
of sound criticism, it has always avoided a rigid determination of the quantum of
evidence needed to support a judgment. This criterion is particularly valid for
international human rights courts, which have greater latitude to evaluate the
evidence on the pertinent facts, in accordance with the principles of logic and on the
basis of experience.?®

109. Based on the foregoing, the Court will now proceed to examine and assess
the documentary probative elements forwarded by the Commission, the
representatives and the State at different procedural opportunities or as helpful
evidence requested by the Court and its President, as well as the expert and
testimonial evidence given before the Court during the public hearing, all of which
forms the body of evidence in this case. To this end, the Court will abide by the
principles of sound criticism, within the corresponding legal framework.

A) DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE

110. The Commission, the representatives and the State forwarded sworn
statements and also testimonial and expert statements made before notary public
(affidavits) responding to the President’s requests in his orders of July 28, 2005
(supra para. 23), and August 19, 2005 (supra para. 28). Since most of the 16
witnesses asked that their identity should be kept confidential — a request reiterated
by the Commission (supra para. 45) — because they feared reprisals owing to their
statements, the Court will summarize these statements, avoiding any allusions that
could lead to the identification of the witnesses or their next of kin. The Court will
also summarize the expert opinions.

TESTIMONY
a) Testimony proposed by the Inter-American Commission?’

The Commission presented the testimonial statements of six persons, including
residents, tradesmen and civil authorities of El Aro at the time of the facts; their
statements are summarized below.

El Aro was a village where the people farmed and raised livestock, inhabited by from
300 to 500 people. By mule, it could take six hours to reach El Aro from Puerto
Escondido, or eight hours from Puerto Valdivia. EI Aro was considered a zone of
influence of the guerrilla, because the “Nudo de Paramillo” is located there; this is
the union of three cordilleras giving access to several different regions. The zone is a
strategic transit point for four groups: the Army, the Police, the paramilitary groups

26 Cf. Case of Balded6n Garcia, supra note 5, para. 62; Case of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous

Community, supra note 9, para. 32; and Case of Acevedo Jaramillo et al., supra note 12, para. 185.

2 The names of the witnesses will remain confidential to protect their safety.
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and the guerrilla. The paramilitary groups began to arrive “years before” the events
occurred in El Aro in 1997. In 1996, there was an incursion that reached Santa Rita.
Approximately two months before the massacre, they reached the “La Esmeralda”
sector, but they did not get to the urban capital of El Aro. The paramilitary groups
came to El Aro via Puerto Valdivia. Prior to 1994, neither the Army nor any legal
authority was present in Puerto Valdivia.

The paramilitary groups had maps of all the municipal districts (corregimientos) and
municipalities and marked with a red cross those they planned to destroy. El Aro was
marked with a red cross on one of those maps, and the Mayor of Ituango and the
other Councilors were duly notified. In view of this situation, “about two months
before the incursion,” the EI Aro Community Action Committee asked for protection
from the state Governor’'s office, but this was not granted. The local authorities
began to call “on everyone, on the Fourth Brigade, on the Girardot Battalion, even on
the Yarumal prosecutor’s office.” They all replied that “no troops [were] available,”
because they had all been deployed in relation to the elections that were being held
at the time.

In October 1997, before the massacre, the paramilitary groups met daily with
members of the Army in the zone of Cachirimé and Taraza. Many families “said that
it was the members of the paramilitary groups with the Army who raided El Aro.”
Among the soldiers identified, were those known as “pifia” [pineapple], “el burro”
[the donkey] and Corporal Alzate, who was called “Rambo” or “Kamiski.” It was even
said that the person in charge of the Army in Puerto Valdivia had joined a
paramilitary group.

The paramilitary group entered El Aro on October 25, 1997. The elections were
programmed for Sunday, October 26, 1997. On Saturday, October 25 “shots [were
heard and] many explosions.” During the morning of that Saturday “a white
helicopter arrived” from which “bursts of machine gun fire” [were heard] and “it flew
off towards northern Cauca.” Some armed men arrived and said: “We are the Auto
Defensas Campesinas [Peasant Self-Defense Units] and we need you to accompany
us a short distance, to the park.” The armed men accused the residents of El Aro of
being guerrillas. They seized several people from the village and took them to the
center of the village square; they insulted them and made them lie face down; then
they proceeded to murder several people.

Those assassinated during this paramilitary incursion included the following: Wilmar
Restrepo Torres, Mario Torres, Mario Ivan, Dora Luz Areiza, Aurelio Areiza, Arnulfo
Sanchez, Luis Modesto Munera, Nelson Palacio, Alberto Correa and Guillermo Andrés
Mendoza.

On Sunday, October 26, the paramilitary group gave permission to bury the dead.
Those who died in ElI Aro were “honest, hardworking people, who [..] had no
connection with either the guerrilla or the paramilitary groups. They were farmers.”

On the night the livestock were stolen from El Aro, two individuals accompanied the
soldiers “they looked very odd, and were not wearing proper Army uniforms,” but
wore “camouflage uniform and were heavily armed, and their haircuts and
appearance [were] not military.” Lieutenant Bolafios ordered the closure all the
establishments in El Aro. The two individuals accompanied the Army to close all the
businesses in the area known as El Retén. At 4 a.m., they brought down the
livestock from the “La Maria” farm to the “El Pescado” farm. The livestock came
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from farms between Puerto Valdivia and El which were left without any animals. The
livestock was put into trucks and transferred to Caucasia. Members of the Army were
herding the livestock. Several residents of El Aro were obliged to herd the cattle.
When, two weeks’ later, they went to see if they would be paid, they were told that
they would be killed.

The Governor of Antioquia sent a telegram to the Inspector of Puerto Valdivia asking
him to communicate with the secretary of the government who, in turn, asked him to
communicate with the Army commander for the area and request help to retrieve the
livestock. Subsequently, the official telephoned Lieutenant Bolafios, who told him
that they were “members of the guerrilla; that the livestock belonged to the
guerrilla; that it had been taken away.”

On the Tuesday or Wednesday following the paramilitary incursion, a civic official
who witnessed the events informed Amado Mufioz, head of the local government,
about what had happened; the latter asked him “not to say anything” and not to
report the matter.

As a result of these facts, approximately 300 people displaced towards Puerto
Valdivia. When they were crossing the Cauca River, the displaced saw Army soldiers
on one side of the bridge and members of a paramilitary group on the other side.
The paramilitary forces ordered the displaced not to say anything about what had
happened in El Aro. In Puerto Valdivia, the displaced had to register at the secondary
school, where “they were given assistance.” However, they were all “in a very bad
situation, because many of them had had their cattle and mules seized.” “They were
all left poverty-stricken.” Many people never returned to El Aro. Others do not go
back because their safety is not guaranteed. The paramilitary groups continue taking
livestock from the area.

In the Inspector’s Office in Puerto Escondido, a paramilitary group had used and
thrown away “the official records of births and marriages [...] as if they had been
toilet paper.”

The situation of the paramilitary and other groups, the fear of another massacre, and
the disappearance of their work and livelihood, mean that the displaced do not want
to return permanently to El Aro. Some of them returned to El Aro, others remained
in Puerto Valdivia, and some went to Medellin.

b) Testimony proposed by the representatives?®

The representatives presented the testimonial statements of ten people, including
next of kin of the alleged victims and residents of El Aro at the time of the events;
their statements are summarized below.

Those responsible for the events in El Aro “had identified themselves as a self-
defense unit.” When they came to the village, the paramilitary group took several
villagers to the village square, threw them on the ground and lined them up. The
paramilitary forces accused all of them of collaborating with the guerrilla. They
stretched out the people face downwards, they trampled on them, and then they
shot them.

28 The names of the witnesses will remain confidential to protect their safety.
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When a helicopter arrived, the members of the paramilitary group said the passenger
was Carlos Castafo. The passenger of the helicopter went to the Police Inspectorate
and spoke to those who were there, including someone they called “...” and a soldier
known as “Rambo.” “Junior” was also called Mauricio. Among the approximately 200
men who raided El Aro, there were those known as “Cobra,” “Pescado” and “El
Tigre.” The members of the paramilitary group could be seen with members of the
Army in Puerto Valdivia, including with “Rambo,” who was dark-skinned and very
tall. “Rambo” had come to El Aro with some soldiers a week before the massacre and
was subsequently seen in Puerto Valdivia.

When they had murdered several of the villagers, the paramilitary group set fire to
homes, stores and surrounding farms on the following Thursday and Friday. On the
Saturday, the paramilitary forces left the village after they had set fire to it. El Aro
“was totaled.” The civilians buried the dead.

Those killed during this paramilitary incursion included: Guillermo Andrés Mendoza
Posso, Nelson Palacio, Marco Aurelio Areiza, Wilmar Restrepo Torres, Dario Martinez,
Luis Modesto Munera, Alberto Correa, Dora Luz Areiza, Favio Zuleta, Omar Ortiz,
Omar Ivan Gutiérrez, Otoniel Tejada Jaramillo and Rosa Barrera.

The paramilitary commander obliged some residents of El Aro to herd livestock, bury
the dead and carry everything that the group ordered. Those forced to herd livestock
included: Omar Alfredo Torres Jaramillo, Libardo Carvajal, Roman Salazar, Tomas
Monsalve, Omar Ivan Gutiérrez, Nobeires Antonio Jiménez, Milciades Crespo, Eulicio
Garcia, Ricardo Barrera, Rodrigo Alberto Mendoza, Gilberto Lopera, Francisco
Osvaldo Pino Posada, Eduardo Rua, someone known as Pipe, and others. There were
a total of “17 herdsmen.” The paramilitary forces threatened to kill the herdsmen if
they tried to escape.

The paramilitary group ordered the herdsmen to gather the livestock from several
different places, including the Montebello, Manzanares, La Floresta, La Planta and La
Maria farms, near Puerto Valdivia. These farms had between 900 and 1,200 head of
livestock between them. They ordered the people to close their stores and to remain
inside their homes while they carried off the livestock. The Army officer known as
“Rambo” was with the paramilitary group when they took the livestock from Puerto
Valdivia. In El Aro, near Bellavista, a troop of men wearing Army uniforms took a
fairly large herd of cattle. From the Monday to the following Sunday, the herdsmen
remained taking care of the livestock. On the Saturday, they were in El Llano,
gathering livestock from all the farms. On the Monday, the members of the
paramilitary group spoke to the soldiers in the La Planta farm. The paramilitary
group sent the soldiers a cow to eat. In the El Catorce farm, the paramilitary group
separated 12 of the best animals for the soldiers. They reached the El Pescado farm
and put the livestock into 15 to 20 trucks which they drove off towards the coast.
The Army was stationed two blocks from where they were putting the livestock into
trucks on the El Pescado farm “yet they did nothing.”

A member of the paramilitary group informed the herdsmen that they should go
home and that three days later they should go down to La Caucana where they
would receive payment for the mules and the cattle. Three days later the herdsmen
went to this place, but the paramilitary group told them to return a week later for
the payment. They returned a week later, but they were not paid and their livestock
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were not returned. The paramilitary group threatened to kill the herdsmen “if they
made any more trouble,” so they did not insist.

In an attempt to recover their livestock, they spoke to the secretary of the
government of the Department, who told them that the livestock “was detained” and
that they should not worry about it. Then they spoke to an officer of the 4™ Brigade
and asked for greater protection in the zone. The officer answered that the livestock
and the zone were safe with the Army.

Following the massacre, all the villagers displaced towards Puerto Valdivia. In Puerto
Valdivia the displaced stayed at a secondary school. Two weeks later, the Army
informed them that they could return home. By then, all the livestock had been
removed from the region, through Puerto Valdivia.

The displaced lost not only their legal papers, but also all their mementos, such as
photographs, the pictures of saints that were hung up on the walls of their homes,
and all their clothes and everything they had built up during their lifetime. Most of
the displaced consider that they will continue to be displaced, because they have no
hope of recovering what they had in El Aro, since “the situation is complicated,
because the guerrilla is on one side and the paramilitary groups on the other.” The
paramilitary groups have continued to steal livestock and murder people.

The events in El Aro had huge financial and physical effects on all the families. The
region was left in ruins. Almost all the families lost everything. Those who had
livestock, the result of a whole life’s work, were left without anything. Those who had
houses were left homeless, and those who had land, had to abandon it. Those whose
homes had not been burnt down, had their furniture, their animals and their few
possessions stolen. Very few people have been able to recover anything. The people
have not returned to the zone because the guerrilla and the paramilitary groups are
still present in the region, and they have looted the peasants’ few remaining
possessions, stealing their mules and cattle, and preventing the people from
prospering. The few residents who returned to El Aro have suffered a great deal and
are in a very difficult situation.

The life of the families changed a great deal after the paramilitary raid in El Aro. In
order to remake their lives, they had to start off again from nothing, “undergoing
hunger.” Many people did not return, especially those who lost family members.
Many people have not been able to recover from the events and, now that they are
old, it is much more difficult for them to recover financially. Some of the children of
the alleged victims could not continue their studies. Many families are still afraid;
many have not been able to find work, suffer from illnesses and are depressed, “as if
they no longer wanted to live” and, at night, the children wake up screaming with
nightmares. The family groups disintegrated. Some of the next of kin suffered
psychological traumas owing to the events.

c) Testimonies proposed by the State

1. Jorge Armando Otalora Goémez, Deputy Prosecutor General

Following the events in La Granja, both the Police and the Ituango Sectional
Prosecutor’s Office opened preliminary investigations into the assassinations that had

occurred in that municipal district on June 11 and 12, 1996. Given “the gravity of the
facts, the geographical complexity and the public order situation,” on November 20,
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1996, the Prosecutor General’'s Office decided to reassign the investigation of the
facts to the National Human Rights Unit.

On June 17, 1999, “when the body of evidence collected had been assessed, the pre-
trial proceedings were initiated and orders were give to formally investigate” the
Sub-Lieutenant of the National Army and Commander of the Police of Ituango, José
Vicente Castro; the Lieutenant of the National Army and Commander of the Girardo
Battalion based in Ituango, Jorge Alexander Sanchez Castro; and the civilians, Jaime
Angulo Osorio, Francisco Angulo Osorio, Hernando de Jesus Alvarez Gémez, Manuel
Remigio Fonnegra Piedrahita and Carlos Castafio Gil, the latter “a member of the
United Self-Defense Forces of Colombia.”

As a result of the inquiries of a judicial commission of the National Human Rights
Unit and of the evidence collected by the commission in the place where the facts
had occurred, “the Prosecutor General’s Office found that there were grounds for
investigating as alleged perpetrators of the facts”: Carlos Antonio Carvajal Jaramillo,
Jairo Castafieda, Gilberto Tamayo Rengifo, Orlando de Jesis Mazo Mazo and lsaias
Montes Hernandez, alias “Junior,” the latter “head of the self-defense forces in
northwestern Antioquia.”

“The results of the judicial activities of the Prosecutor General’'s Office” during the
period from December 23, 2002, to May 5, 2003, “allowed preventive measures
consisting in pre-trial detention without parole to be imposed on” the following
personas: Carlos Antonio Carvajal Jaramillo, for the crimes of extortion and
conspiracy to commit a crime, Gilberto Tamayo Rengifo, for the crimes of conspiracy
to commit a crime, terrorism and extortion, Hernando de Jesus Alvarez Gémez, for
the crimes of conspiracy to commit a crime, extortion and terrorism, Jairo
Castafneda, for the crime of conspiracy to commit a crime, Orlando Mazo Mazo for
the crimes of conspiracy to commit a crime, extortion and terrorism, and lIsaias
Montes Hernandez, for the crimes of conspiracy to commit a crime, extortion and
terrorism.

On November 14, 2003, José Vicente Castro was sentenced to 31 years’
imprisonment, a decision that was revoked by the Antioquia Superior Court on July
12, 2004. On July 8, 2005, the Antioquia First Specialized Court sentenced Jorge
Alexander Sanchez Castro to 31 years’ imprisonment; Orlando De Jesus Mazo Mazo
to 12 years’ imprisonment; Gilberto Antonio Tamayo Rengifo to 12 years’
imprisonment, and Carlos Antonio Carvajal Jaramillo to 7 years’ imprisonment, all of
them for the crimes of conspiracy to commit a crime and aggravated murder. In the
case of José Vicente Castro, the decision absolving him is being reviewed by the
Supreme Court of Justice. In the case of Hernando de Jesus Alvarez, it was ordered
that the proceedings should be discontinued owing to the death of the accused.
Regarding the members of the paramilitary group, Carlos Castafio and Isaias Montes
Hernandez, the investigation is still underway and “will soon be evaluated.”

In relation to the events of El Aro, which took place from October 22 to 26, 1997, the
Prosecutor General’s Office formally took over the investigation through the Delegate
Prosecutor’s Office for the ltuango circuit and the Yarumal Delegate Prosecutor’s
Office. On November 20, 1997, the investigations were reassigned to the Second
Unit of the Medellin Regional Prosecutor’s Office.

On March 19, 1999, “the Prosecutor General’s Office ordered that [Carlos Castafio Gil
and Francisco Enrique Villalba] should be investigated in the inquiry.” An unsworn
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statement was taken from the latter on June 4, 1999, and on July 1, 1999, “his legal
status was decided [..] imposing a preventive measure consisting in pre-trial
detention without parole [...] for multiple murders.”

In April 1998, the National Human Rights Unit had ordered a judicial inspection of
the disciplinary proceedings so as to transfer evidence, in order to establish the
names of the members of the Girardot Battalion based in the zone at the time of the
facts.

“On February 24, 2000, an order was issued to investigate” Salvatore Mancuso
Gomez and Alexander Mercado Fonseca, “members of the AUC.” On April 22, 2003,
the Second Criminal Affairs Judge of the Antioquia Specialized Circuit sentenced
Salvatore Mancuso Goémez and Carlos Castafio Gil to 40 years’ imprisonment for the
crimes of conspiracy to commit a crime, aggravated multiple murders and
aggravated theft. The same judgment also sentenced Francisco Villalba Hernandez to
33 years’ imprisonment; he is serving his sentence in the Itaguli Prison in Antioquia.

The disciplinary ruling against Army Lieutenant Everardo Bolafios Galindo and First
Corporal German Antonio Alzate Cardona for collaboration and omission in relation to
the facts that occurred in the municipal district of El Aro was transferred to the
criminal investigation. The transfer of this ruling, allowed the acting Prosecutor to
order that these individuals should be investigated under the criminal proceedings.
The First Corporal was declared “absent” on January 11, 2005, and it was
determined that he used the alias “Rambo.” In a decision of March 1, 2005, “the
acting Prosecutor decided the legal status of Everardo Bolafios Galindo and German
Antonio Alzate Cardona, and ordered a preventive measure against them consisting
in pre-trial detention without parole for the crimes of conspiracy to commit a crime,
aggravated by their status as active members of the Army at the time of the facts, in
conjunction with the crimes of terrorism, aggravated murder and aggravated theft.”
Everardo Bolafios Galindo is in prison at the orders of the Specialized Court of
Florencia, Caquetd, for his alleged participation in acts that took place in 2002 and
2003.

Finally, the investigation is complicated by the geographical location and public order
situation of the zone. Also, during the initial stages of the investigation, there was no
conclusive testimony, because people were afraid owing to the presence of illegal
agents. Subsequently, the cases were incorporated into the Special Committee for
the Promotion [of Human Rights Investigations], created by the Vice President of the
Republic as a public policy project within the framework of the fight against impunity,
composed of the Attorney General’'s Office, Judges of the Republic, and the
Prosecutor General’'s Office, assisted by the Office of the United Nations High
Commissioner for Human Rights in Colombia, with international cooperation
resources.

2. Jaime Jaramillo Panneso, Peace and Culture Adviser of the Antioquia
Governor’s Office

“About 15 to 20 families” may have been displaced from El Aro, owing to the raid of
October 1997.

The Governor’'s Office gave food to those who were displaced and offered them
protection and help to return to their homes. Since the families were dispersed, it
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was difficult to find and assist them. Some of the help was provided in coordination
with the Social Solidarity Network.

The Antioquia Governor’s Office, through the security councils, coordinated the
actions of law enforcement personnel, and promoted the work with the Offices of the
Prosecutor General, the Ombudsman and the Attorney General. This is what the
Governor called REDIS (Safety Information Networks), in which not only of members
of law enforcement bodies participated, but also control and investigation agencies.

EXPERT EVIDENCE
a) Expert evidence proposed by the representatives

1. Bjorn Pettersson, independent human rights consultant, particularly
on the issue of internal displacement

Based on his many interviews and field visits, he concluded that: (a) the authorities
did not adopt preventive measures, even though they knew that paramilitary groups
were raiding Ituango; (b) the Ituango massacres were perpetrated by paramilitary
groups acting in conjunction with the Colombian Armed Forces or, at least, with the
latter’s acquiescence or tolerance, and (c) a large number of people were forced to
displace without emergency assistance, or State support for resettlement and
voluntary reintegration.

The acts allegedly perpetrated by paramilitary groups, such as mutilation and other
tortures following by extrajudicial execution, were carried out with “extreme cruelty.”

The paramilitary group involved remained in the area for several days, receiving
military and logistic support from the Colombian Armed Forces.

Regarding the forced displacement, according to local laws and also international
norms, the Colombian State was obliged to: (a) prevent the massacre and
displacement; (b) investigate the violent acts, and prosecute and punish those
responsible; (¢) protect the displaced from additional violations; (d) provide the
displaced with humanitarian assistance as regards nutrition, housing, health care,
education and clothing, and (e) ensure their safe and voluntary return home and
local reintegration, or resettlement in another part of the country.

The displaced population did not have access to health care, nutrition, housing and
educational services.

The measures taken by the State to help the displaced return to their original
communities were implemented without guaranteeing the minimum conditions of
security and before the causes of the displacement had been eliminated.

The possibility of the displaced inhabitants of Ituango returning was not feasible
owing to the presence of paramilitary groups in the north of Antioquia, and the
collaboration of certain sectors of the Colombian Armed Forces.

The main mechanisms for implementing the State’s obligations towards the displaced
are: (a) the competent authorities have the obligation to establish ways and means
of ensuring safe and acceptable conditions for the voluntary return of the displaced
to their homes or their voluntary resettlement in another part of the country and (b)
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the State has the obligation to make reparation to those displaced from Ituango who
are unable to return and recover their lost possessions.

At the domestic level, Decree No. 2569 of December 12, 2000, introduced a possible
end to the status of displaced persons and referred to the elimination of the
Displaced Persons’ Register. In its judgment T-327 of March 26, 2001, the Colombian
Constitutional Court ruled in favor of the displaced persons who were not allowed to
register on the Displaced Persons’ Register. In this judgment, it made a difference
between the "status of displaced” and the "actual situation causing displacement.”
The former was a requirement for access to Government support and required formal
certification as a displaced person, while the latter corresponded merely to a de facto
situation, which did not have to be certified by the Government. Also, displacement
is not limited in time, so that a person continues to be displaced until he can return
home in secure conditions and when the reasons for his displacement have been
eliminated in the area from which he was expelled.

2. Alfredo De los Rios, psychiatrist

The next of kin of the alleged victims suffered psychological and physical effects,
such as: anxiety, problems at school, nervousness, depression, feelings of loneliness
and distress, resentment, anger, bitterness, sadness, lack of energy, loss of appetite,
fear, confusion, insomnia, pessimism, lack of the will to live, and a desire to die.

Displacement affects the normal mourning process of the victims’ next of kin,
because they live in remote places and the families are dispersed; this prevents
them from performing collective acts, rites and commemorations, and establishing a
connection with places and objects related to their deceased family members.

Most of the alleged victims who died in El Aro and La Granja were men. The
displacement produced by the death of the main family member in these villages
affected not only their wives and children, but often the nephews and nieces and the
grandchildren too, because everyone felt threatened and fearful as a result of the
attack.

The abrupt financial loss and the feelings of terror, arbitrariness, impotence and
defenselessness caused additional traumatic effects, over and above the
accumulated anger and bitterness against those who perpetrated the tragedy, and
also against the agencies who should have avoided it or whose function was to
provide protection.

The life project of the next of kin has been truncated. Many of the children of the
alleged victims had to drop out of school and begin to work to help the family
survive.

The failure to clarify the facts becomes a factor that increases the feeling of injustice
and abandonment by the State.

The psychological effects on the next of kin of the alleged victims could be treated
and improved by the intervention of mental health experts.
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b) Expert evidence proposed by the State

1. Hernan de Jesus Sanin Posada, Superintendent of Private Security
and Surveillance of Colombia

The first paragraph of Article 365 of the Constitution establishes the State’s policy
concerning private security and surveillance as a public service inherent in the social
purposes of the State. Its regulation, control and monitoring are reserved to the
State by constitutional provisions. Since it is a public service, it can be provided
directly by the State or indirectly through organized groups or individuals.

Private security and surveillance services are regulated by the Private Security and
Surveillance Superintendence Act. These services are defined as remunerated
activities or activities for the benefit of a public or private organization established by
natural or legal persons that tend to prevent or put a stop to disruptions of individual
peace and security with regard to their own life and property or that of third parties,
and also the manufacture, installation, marketing and use of private security and
surveillance equipment, armor plating and transport for this purpose. The means of
providing private security and surveillance services must be authorized by law and/or
the Superintendence of Private Security and Surveillance.

When the service is provided indirectly by the State, through organized groups or
individuals, the State exercises control and monitoring to guarantee its effectiveness.
Decree 2453 of 1993 defines its organic structure, objectives, functions and
sanctions regime.

The Superintendence’s authority to apply the sanctions regime arises from its status
as a senior administrative police authority for guaranteeing the effective and
adequate provision of the services monitored.

Resolution 368 of April 27, 1995, established technical and legal criteria and
indicated a procedure for establishing private security and surveillance services, such
as the “special” ones mentioned in Article 39 of Decree 356 of 1994. According to
this administrative decree, legal persons under public or private law authorized to
provide this type of service to protect themselves will be known as “Convivir.” The
purpose of the specific denomination was to guarantee effective control and
monitoring of the achievement of the objectives and activities of this type of legal
person.

Resolution 368 of 1995 was revoked by Resolution 7164 of October 22, 1997,
because it was considered that the Superintendence did not have the authority to
assign a name to the private security and surveillance services. However, it
maintained the Superintendence’s control and monitoring functions by confirming the
procedural regulations for establishing these special services.

The existence of the special private security and surveillance services referred to in
Article 39 of Decree 356 of 1994 and Decree 2974 of 1997 was based on exceptional
circumstances of threat and risk to communities. Owing to progress in protection and
security, the need for this type of services has declined considerably. Thus, today,
there are only three legal persons authorized to provide this type of special services.
It is worth noting that, as the bodies responsible for public order and the police
service in their regions, the local administrative authorities constituted by direct vote
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play a special role in granting permits and licenses for the provision of these special
services, since they are only granted following approval by these authorities.

To ensure that the private security and surveillance services remain within the
framework of the Constitution and the law, the Superintendence exercises strict
control and monitoring by meticulously ensuring that they fulfill the requirements
and conditions for obtaining operating permits and licenses for all surveillance
services, and also by carefully reviewing implementation of the activities of the
authorized service and verifying that the requirements are updated and the permits
and licenses renewed.

While continuing to perform these activities, the Superintendence will soon be
undergoing a legal and administrative restructuring that will provide it with improved
human, technical and physical resources to strengthen controls and society’s
confidence in the professional and technical quality and efficiency of the private
security and surveillance sector.

B) TESTIMONIAL AND EXPERT EVIDENCE

111. On September 22 and 23, 2005, the Court received the statements of the
witnesses and expert witnesses proposed by the parties at a public hearing. Since
several witnesses asked that their identity should kept confidential, for fear of
reprisals owing to their statements, the Court will now make a general summary of
these statements avoiding allusions that could lead to the identification of those
testifying and their next of kin. The Court will also summarize the expert opinions.

TESTIMONIES
a) Witness proposed by the Inter-American Commission®

Prior to October 1997, El Aro was a village with around 700 or 800 inhabitants. The
paramilitary presence in the district began in 1996.

On October 25, 1997, some “paramilitary troops” arrived in El Aro and shots were
heard at the entrance to the village. Among the troops was a member of the Army
known as “Rambo.” The armed group wore Army uniform with dark green clothing.
Some of them had a military emblem on their shirts that read “National Army,
Girardot Battalion.”

The witness was obliged to bring equipment from a nearby farm known as “El
Paraiso” and to unload mules carrying other equipment and the bodies of individuals
that the group had killed along the way. That night, the armed group raped three or
four women. The following day, they were allowed to bury the bodies of the villagers
who had been executed up until that time. El Aro was totally destroyed. There were
from “90 to 100 houses in the village.”

The armed group stole the possessions from the homes of the inhabitants of El Aro
and a great many head of livestock. The people were obliged to herd their own
livestock. They asked for help from an Army troop that was in “El Socorro” to

29 The Inter-American Commission and the witness requested that the name should remain

confidential for reasons of safety.
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confiscate the stolen livestock. The Army officers answered that the livestock “had
already been confiscated” and that they should proceed peacefully to Puerto Valdivia,
where there were about “800” displaced people. One night the Army started
shooting, so everyone shut themselves up in their homes. The livestock were then
taken through El Aro on the way to another location. The witness lost his livestock,
his home, his work and all his belongings.

b) Witnesses proposed by the representatives®

In the 1990s, different actors intervened in the existing conflicts in the area of the
Municipality of Ituango. The FARC guerrilla had been “established in the daily life of
the Municipality and [of] the State’s forces, represented by the Army and the Police,”
for about 10 or 12 years.

In view of this situation, a departmental government council was established to deal
with the issue of security in the Municipality. Subsequently, various ranchers and
some political leaders proposed that “the Convivir associations” should be
established in ltuango; these were “paramilitary groups” operating within a legal
framework. These associations were defined as “private security cooperatives” and
had the full support of the Army and the Police. After they had been established, a
large number of disappearances began to occur and more than 200 deaths were
recorded, as this was “the modus operandi of the paramilitary groups.”

On June 11, 1996, armed men came to one of the houses in the village and, having
forced the front door, one of them went inside and seized Héctor Hernan, who was
mentally retarded, by the arm. It all happened within a question of minutes. A shot
was heard followed by the moans of Héctor Hernan. There was no civil or military
authority in La Granja when the facts occurred. The alleged victims of La Granja did
not receive any help subsequently from the State. Some of the inhabitants’ children
left the district, which has made it difficult for the families to get together frequently.

After the ElI Aro massacre in 1997 there was massive displacement and the
conditions have not been safe enough to return.

c) Witness proposed by the State
1. German Saavedra Prado, member of the Colombian Army

In 1995, he was a Major in the Army and worked as an S3 officer of the Girardot
Battalion, in the Department of Antioquia.

The Municipality of Ituango is located in the Western Cordillera and is a strategic
location, because it facilitates the movement of illegal groups to other departments.
This is why these groups are concentrated in the zone and can easily gather 800
individuals and make incursions in different localities. Moreover, at that time, poppy
growing was widespread and this resulted in a dispute for control of the area.

s0 The representatives and the witnesses themselves requested that their names should remain

confidential for reasons of safety.
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It was well know that paramilitary groups were present in the region of Antioquia.
The situation became “difficult,” owing to the menace represented by these illegal
groups.

At that time, the Girardot Battalion did not have the capacity “to control the
territory, because the area under its control [...] was very extensive.” Since there
had been a “guerrilla incursion” in the zone in 1995, about 18 to 20 kilometers from
La Granja, a military company of approximately 120 men had been established to
conduct operations in different sectors of the Municipality of ltuango. The normal
time for traveling to La Granja was five, six or seven days, depending on the level of
danger; and easily about 15 days to El Aro. When they received word from the
civilian population that there was imminent danger, the military authorities first had
to analyze the dangers and threats and then apply “the norms established for
deployment in an operations order.” It could take from eight days to a month to plan
an operation, depending how the Battalion received the information and the number
of sources. Further information was sought from the civilian population, but it was
not possible “to oblige the civilian population to [carry out] military or tactical
actions.”

EXPERT EVIDENCE
d) Expert witness proposed by the Inter-American Commission
1. Rodrigo Uprimny Yepes, lawyer

Different types of proceedings can be filed in Colombia’s administrative jurisdiction;
the most important are: the action for annulment, the action for annulment and for
reinstatement, and also the action for direct reparation. The “action for annulment”
is used to request annulment of an administrative act based on different factors
established by law. This public civil action does not extinguish. The “action for
annulment and reinstatement” can be used by an individual to request not only the
annulment of the administrative act, but also the reinstatement of his right and,
possibly, reparation. This action extinguishes four months after notification of the
corresponding administrative act. An individual can use the action for “direct
reparation” to sue the State in the administrative jurisdiction in order to obtain a
declaration of responsibility for an illegal damage that the victim should not have to
endure, and an order of reparation consisting in financial compensation.

Based on the events examined in the instant case, it would appear that the
appropriate action to file would be the “action for direct reparation,” which
extinguishes two years after the events have occurred.

The administrative jurisdiction has had some “successes” in the area of human
rights. There is a “certain similarity between the administrative jurisdiction and the
international human rights jurisdiction.” However, the administrative recourse of
direct reparation “is not an appropriate substitute” for the international human rights
jurisdiction, because it has obvious limitations, owing to its nature, regulation and
actual functional limitations

The first of these limitations refers to the grounds for the declaration of responsibility
in the administrative jurisdiction. These grounds are limited, because “international
human rights obligations and standards are not obligatorily examined” in this
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jurisdiction. To the contrary, the administrative proceeding determines whether “a
damage has been caused that can be attributed to the State and, in accordance with
the Constitution, whether this damage is illegal. However, the concept of illegal
damage does not signify damage derived from an illegal action by the State, but
damage that the victim should not have to endure, whether this damage stems from
a legal or illegal action of the State.” This is different from when the violation of a
human rights obligation is declared. Even when a ruling of the Council of State
declares that the Nation is responsible for the death of a specific individual, it cannot
be understood as a declaration of the State’s responsibility for violating the right to
life because, for example, it may relate to an unfortunate traffic accident where the
State must provide reparation, but there is no real violation of the right to life. The
State is declared responsible for the death, but not for the “violation of a specific
article of the Constitution or a specific article of a human rights treaty.”

The second limitation refers to the symbolic significance and the specific legal
function of the declaration of responsibility in the administrative jurisdiction.
Regarding the symbolic significance of this declaration, one of the reparations that
the victims seek in an international human rights court is precisely that the State’s
responsibility is acknowledged. This does not happen in the administrative
jurisdiction, and the declaration of responsibility is devalued because it is not
obligatorily a human rights-related reprimand or a rehabilitation of the victims, but a
finding that an illegal damage has occurred that must be repaired. Thus, a
declaration due to an accident that can be attributed to an act of the Administration
and a declaration of the State’s responsibility for forced disappearance have the
same effect. In relation to the specific legal function of the said declaration of
responsibility, contrary to an international human rights court, the Council of State
does not establish the scope of the State’s obligations “in order to guide its future
actions.”

A third limitation refers to the type of judicial remedy that the administrative
jurisdiction establishes when it declares State